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The Fairfax Arms Tavern is a modest, mid-eighteenth-century, one-and-one-half-story
residence located in a sémi~urban area amid various sized twentieth-century residences,
The house is situated adjacent to 01d Colchester Road. FErected for use as a tavern (the
lots upon which the house stands were advertised in 1767 as having a dwelling suitable
for an ordinary), the house has twin entrances.

The rectangular structure is approximately 25 feet by 32 feet. ‘The longitudinal axis
runs southwest-northeast, parallel to the road. Due to the sloping site, the house has a
high stone base exposed on the south side. Exterior stone chimneys flank the house. Above
the first floor, the west chimmey is constructed of brick laid in English bond. The upper
sections of both chimneys are free-standing. The cap of the west chimney was rebuilt about
1937. It was at this time that a concrete porch extending almost the full width of the
house was added, replacing the earlier wood entry stoop. The small vestibule at the rear
door is a modern addition. The green asphalt shingled roaf, gutters and drain pipes also
date from this period. Each face of the gable roof has two dormers.

The largest room is located in the southwest corner of the house and today serves as
the living room. 1In the north wall of the room, almost directly opposite the entry door |
is the door to the enclosed staircase. This four-raised-panel door is part of an interest-
ing wall copmposition which includes in sequence from left to right: an angled corner fire-
place; the door to the small, nine-foot-by-eleven-foot northwest roomj an early nineteenth-
century, floor-to-ceiling open cupboard; and the stairway door. Both doors are identical
in desigr, The eighteen-inch-deep, open cupboard has five modern butterfly shelves. The
cupboard is flanked by fluted pilasters which are intersected by the chair rail molding.
The chair rail is continuous across the front of the cupboard at the level of the second
she1f. There may have been doors enclosing the area below, in contrast to the shelves
above. The top shelf has a beveled front edge and is fitted into the end walls. The
other shelves are not original. Although there are slots in the end walls, the shelves
are seated on square support brackets. Running around the top of the ten-foot-high walls,
except across the chimney breast, is a simple crown molding which shifts its plane to mark
the location of the doors. The mantel and the fireplace surround are rectilinear in design
and appear to be original. The scction of the chair rail flanking the fireplace has been
added. The double-~hung windows in the south and west walls have nine-over-nine-light

sashes,

A {ramed doorway in the east wall opens to the thirteen~foot-square dining room. The
fireplace located in the northeast corner has the same Greek Revival-style mantel as in the
living room. The chair rail is flush with the plastered walls. An enclosed, recessed
cupboard is located at the west end of the north wall. The glass, muntins, and frame of the
cupboard door appear to be original, This cupboard has old butterfly shelves. A door
adjacent to the cupboard opens into a modern kitchen.

The northeast room, now the kitchen, has access to the stairs and the exterior. The
corner fireplace backs onto the dining room fireplace and has a simple brick arched opening
without mantel or surround. Little evidence remains concerning the northwest room. The
fireplace has been filled and plastered, The single window in this room has sixz-over-six—
light sashes. The kitchen window is identical. Between these rooms is located the eanclosed
two~foot seven-inch-wide staircase. Tt turns 180 degrees around a simple square newel post.
The balusters are plain rectangular slats.

(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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. 3d quarter 18th century
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The property commonly known as the Fairfax Arms Tavern is one of two surviving 18th-
century buildings from the town of Colchester on Occoquan Creek in Fairfax County. Its
handsone stonework, unusual plan, and surviving interior decoration, including an early
19th-century wall cupboard, are among the most striking features of this well-preserved
local landmark.

Colchester was established in 1753 by an Act of the Virginia Asseuwbly. According to a
Record of Surveys (1742-1757) by G. VWest, Surveyor, dated June 1754, the triangular plan
of Colchester included forty-one lots and a market square. Fach lot was 165 feet deep by
132 feet wide. Purchasers were required to ercct within two years a house"...well framed,
of the dimensions of twenty feet square, and nine feet pitch at the least..." a standard
provision of early Virginia's new-town acts. The village was an important port for the
shipping of tobacco and other goods during the third quarter of the eighteenth century.
In 1758 the firm of John Glassford & Company of Glasgow, Scotland, established a store in
the town. However, due to a relocatlon of the road to the nerth, a fire which destroyed
many of the buildings in the town, and the silting of the river, Colchester declined
significantly by 1789, Colchester is rare among the numerous river towns which once dotted
the shores of the Potomac River in that it has continued to retain its identity. For the
past one hundred fifty years, the town has been dormant.

Yairfax Arms stands on lot 21 of the original town, which was purchased May 17, 1756,
{along with five other lots) by Benjamin Grayson. Grayson was forced to mortgage the
property in 1762 and 1763, during which time William Linton was renting lot 21 and operating
an ordinary there. 1n 1767 Grayson advertised his three lots for sale and noted that they
included a "dwelling suitable for an ordinary." The present structure may be that building.
The property was sold in 1772 to Hector Ross and by Ross to Alexander Henderson a year later.
In 1779 William Thompson bought 1t. Henderzon and Thompson were both postmasters of
Celchiester and likely conducted the postal business at the ordinary. In 1784 Thompson
advertised the property for sale in the July 15 issue of Virginia Journal and Alexandria
Advertiser. The description scems to fit the present structure, The owner offered:

A large and convenient dwelling with excellent cellar, four rooms on a floor with a
fireplace to each and three rooms above. Good kitchen with oven adjacent

to the fireplace, a room at one end with a planked floor, lathed and

plastered, glass windows, was intended for a housekeeper or white servant;

stable for eight horses and a meathouse, garden and about one acre adjacent

in grass well inclosed,

He nevertheless retained ownership of the property until his death in 1800. The building is
extracrdinarily well-documented,as the unfortunate Mr. Thowpson had to prepare an exhaustive
list of the furnishings andcontents of his tavern and of the livestock in its ocutbuildings
preparatory to mortgaging the property shortly before his death.

{(See Continuation Sheet #2)
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6, REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS
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1959 Federal
Library of Congress
Washington, D. C.

(3) Fairfax County Office of Comprehensive Planning
1975 County
Fairfax County History Commissicon
Fairfax, Virginia

(4) Virginia Historic landmarks Commission Survey
1978 State
Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission 221 Governor Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219

7. DESCRIPTION

At the scecond floor, the stairs enter the small hall. TImmediately opposite
is a recently renovated bathroom. There are three bedrooms. One extends the width
of the west end of the house. The other two bedrooms divide the eastern portion of
the second floor. FEach room, including the bathroom, has a dormer window. The
frames and sashes of many of the windows have been replaced. The window in the east
end wall of the southeast bedroom was inserted about 1937. The scuth or front dormer
windows have six-over-six-light sashes; the north dormer and west windows, four—over-
four; and the new window, two-over—two-light sashes. There is a small attic area above
the second floor.

The upstairs floors are of random~width pine boards. An oak floor imstalled in
1941 covers the original tongue-and~groove boards of the first floor. The original
floor boards are about six inches in width and chamfered on the reverse side in order
to obtain a tight, level fit with the joists.

The basement is entered at ground level on the west end., In the northwest corner,
traces of a brick arch remain along the west wall. The modern furnace utilizes the
flue in the adjacent basement fireplace. Originally the basement was used as a kitchen
which had a dirt floor, An unusual feature of the original basement was that it was
once a single open space. This was made possible by a truss for the first-floor framing.
Thus, originally the framing for the first floor was supported by the stone perimeter
walls. Steel supports have been added in recent years.

Immediately behind the house are located the original well, two sheds, and a
modern covered swimming pool. The two sheds appear for the first time in the two 1937
Historic American Buildings Survey photographs. A small boxwood garden is located to the
east of the house.
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7. DESCRIPTION

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION:

The register bounds, a small rectangle enclosing the house, approxinate the
bounds of the original lot 21 of Colchester touwn.

8. SICNIFICANCE

Thompson's widow again advertised the lot in 1802 as "that wellknown property
located in the town of Colchester occupled for many years as a tavern and now in
possession of Dr, Blake." 1t is worth noting that despite its being "well-known" and so
frequently offered for sale, no name appears for it in the 18th-century documents., In
1811 county commissioners, acting to settle Thompsen's estate, sold the tavern property
to Peter Wagener; 4n 1835 it came into the possession of Thomas Baird. At that time,
its building valuation in the land tax books, 3230, was among the highest in Colchester.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
The half-acre comprising the Fairfax Arms property is bounded by a rectan01e neasurlng
approximately 132'x165', the 132" fronting on old Colchester Road.
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